IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH LEON STOWERS, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. 70,451

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

JOSEPH LEON STOWERS was the defendant in the trial court and appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District. He will be referred to in this brief as "petition-er," "defendant," or by his proper name. Reference to Volume I of the record on appeal, containing the pleadings and orders filed in this cause, will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. Reference to Volumes II through XV of the record on appeal, containing transcripts, will be by use of the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In Case No. 85-5055, Count I of an amended information containing two charges alleged that petitioner, on March 29, 1985, using a shotgun, robbed a purse and its contents, owned by and from the custody of Gwendolyn James, contrary to Sections 775.087 and 812.13, Florida Statutes (1985). Count II alleged that petitioner, on March 29, 1985, using a shotgun, robbed a wallet and contents, owned by and from the custody of Herman Tompkins, contrary to Sections 775.087 and 812.13, Florida Statutes (1985) (R-59-60).

In Case No. 85-5364, Count I of an amended information containing nine charges alleged that petitioner, on April 6, 1985, forged a check in the amount of \$445.43, drawn upon the account of Gwendolyn James, contrary to Section 831.01, Florida Statutes (1985). Count II alleged that petitioner, on April 6, 1985, uttered a forged instrument to Hugh High, a check in the amount of \$445.43 drawn upon the account of Gwendolyn James, knowing it was forged, contrary to Section 831.02, Florida Statutes (1983). Count III alleged that petitioner, on April 6, 1985, committed theft of a video cassette recorder worth \$100 or more, the property of McDuff Appliances, contrary to Section 812.014(2)(B)(1), Florida Statutes (1985). Count IV alleged that petitioner, on April 8, 1985, forged a check in the amount of \$648.95, drawn upon the account of Gwendolyn James, contrary to Section 831.01, Florida Statutes (1985). Count V alleged that petitioner, on April 8, 1985, uttered a

forged instrument to Terry Roberson, a check in the amount of \$648.95, drawn upon the account of Gwendolyn James, knowing it was forged, contrary to Section 831.02, Florida Statutes (1985). Count VI alleged that petitioner, on April 8, 1985, committed theft of a television set worth \$100 or more, the property of Duval Appliances of Florida, contrary to Section 812.014(2)(B)(1), Florida Statutes (1985). Count VII alleged that petitioner, on April 10, 1985, forged a check in the amount of \$472.49, drawn upon the account of Gwendolyn James, contrary to Section 831.01, Florida Statutes (1985). VIII alleged that petitioner, on April 10, 1985, uttered a forged instrument to Charles Dennis, a check in the amount of \$472.49, drawn upon the account of Gwendolyn James, knowing it was forged, contrary to Section 831.02, Florida Statutes (1985). Count IX alleged that petitioner, on April 10, 1985, committed theft of a video cassette recorder worth \$100 or more, the property of McDuff Appliances, contrary to Section 812.014(2)(B)(1), Florida Statutes (1985) (R-69-71).

After the two cases were ordered consolidated (R-34) upon motion of the state (R-29-30), petitioner filed a motion seeking severance of Case No. 85-5055 from Case No. 85-5364. Further, in Case No. 84-5364, the motion sought severance and separate trials for Counts I through III, IV through VI, and VII through IX (R-45-48). After hearing argument on the motion it was denied (T-43-66).

Petitioner proceeded to a trial by jury.

On March 29, 1985, Gwendolyn James Marshall and Herman Tompkins, the first two state witnesses, had a date. approximately 10:30 p.m., the couple were parked at a very dark secluded area located in Duval County, Florida, when a vehicle pulled behind theirs and left its lights on. Two uniformed persons, whom Marshall and Tompkins believed to be police officers, approached the couple and requested identification. One of the men, holding a shotgun, pumped it and cautioned Tompkins to not do anything foolish. Tompkins procured identification from his wallet and gave it to one of the officers, leaving the wallet next to his leg. Marshall, however, explained that her purse and identification were in the trunk, so she got out of the car, opened the trunk, and procured identification from her purse. The men grabbed Marshall's purse and Tompkins' wallet, and departed. Finally realizing the two men were not police officers, Tompkins and Marshall drove to a convenience store, notified the police, and made a report. portion of the items taken from Marshall included her personal checks. Marshall subsequently selected petitioner from a photo spread and in court as being the person holding the shotgun. On the day of trial, however, when shown another photo spread, Marshall selected someone other than petitioner. Tompkins did not make either an in-court or out-of-court identification (R-204-270).

A week or so prior to April 6, 1985, a man entered McDuff
Appliances on Beach Boulevard and discussed the purchase of a
video cassette recorder with Michael May, Store Manager. This

man, whom May identified as petitioner, stated he was from Texas visiting a paraplegic aunt in Jacksonville, and that the aunt wanted to purchase a VCR. On April 6, 1985, May noticed petitioner in the store, accompanied by someone else, talking with a salesman, Hugh High. The next business day May learned that High had sold a VCR to petitioner, who had paid for it with a check later determined to be stolen (T-271-293).

Eugene Rochelle, employed at McDuff Appliances, procured the tag number of the vehicle being operated on April 6, 1985, by the two men who purchased the recorder from the store (T-294-304).

Hugh High, Salesman at McDuff Appliances, testified that a man who looked like petitioner, accompanied by another person, came to the business on April 6, 1985, and discussed purchasing a VCR. The person resembling petitioner stated the recorder was for a paraplegic sister, and that he was visiting from Texas. High told the two men what information was needed in order to cash a check, and the two men left. Shortly after 9:00 p.m. the two men returned with a check already made out for \$445.43. The man resembling petitioner gave the check to High. As the two men were leaving, High recorded the tag number of their car (T-305). High selected someone other than petitioner from a photo spread. Neither man wrote anything on the check in High's presence (T-305-322).

Terry Roberson, Manager of Duval Appliances, testified that on April 8, 1985, two black men, the larger of whom identified himself as Bates and stated that he was from Texas,

entered the store and discussed the purchase of a television set for Bates' paraplegic sister. They returned later that day and purchased the set with a check bearing the name Gwendolyn James, that was later discovered to be forged and stolen (T-323-335).

Wilmer Atwell, Manager of Duval County Tag Agency, testified that the tag numbers jotted down by High and Rochelle correspond to a 1971 Ford owned by own Bernard Bolden (T~335-345).

John Gainey testified that on April 10, 1985, he was manager of the McDuff Appliance Store located on Edison Avenue. Gainey testified petitioner visited the store on two occasions. On the first occasion petitioner said he was from Texas visiting his brother. He also mentioned that his son had been bitten by a dog, and that he was going to replace a broken VCR.

On the second occasion, petitioner purchased a VCR from a salesman named Dennis, and paid for it with a check later determined to be forged and stolen (T-345-367).

Hugh High and Wilber Atwell were both recalled as witnesses and testified collectively that the tag number recorded by High corresponds to a 1977 Oldsmobile registered to petitioner (T-367-390).

Charles Dennis, Salesman at McDuff Appliance Store located on Edison Avenue, testified petitioner visited the store twice on April 10, 1985. On the first occasion petitioner stated he was from Texas, that his son broke his brother's VCR, that because he was from Texas he knew the store would not take his

check, and therefore he would get a check from his sister-in-law. Petitioner left but returned a couple of hours
later, and purchased a VCR with a check that was already filled
out (T-390-404).

Officer Dalton Hill of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office testified that he displayed photo spreads to Gwendolyn James Marshall, Hugh High, Mr. Rochelle, and Mr. May. Mr. High selected someone other than petitioner. Ms. Marshall selected petitioner. Mr. Rochelle selected petitioner's picture, stating he was 60 percent sure. Mr. May selected petitioner's photograph, stating he was 80 percent sure. After petitioner was arrested he asked to talk to Officer Hill. As Hill entered the room, petitioner stated, "You really did your homework this time; you got me." (T-14-445).

Donna Jones, deemed an expert in identification through fingerprints, testified she examined state exhibits 1, 2, and 3, checks, and found petitioner's print on state exhibit 3, a check made out to McDuff Appliances dated April 10, 1985 (T-455-479).

Sergeant T. L. Elrod, in charge of the inmate records at the jail, identified certain documents as coming from petitioner's jail records. The documents, not admitted into evidence, include writings such as inmate request forms (T-480-510).

John Skycove, a forgery detective, took three sets of handwriting exemplars from petitioner and two from Gwendolyn James Marshall. These exemplars, along with the documents identified by Sergeant Elrod, were at various times submitted

to the crime laboratory for analysis. Defense counsel unsuccessfully objected to the admissibility of two of the three exemplars taken from petitioner, since they were dated prior to the dates of the offenses being tried, and thus suggested unrelated criminal activity (T-511-535).

Debra Dianne McDoughall, deemed an expert in questioned documents, expressed the opinion that, with respect to the three checks admitted into evidence as state exhibits 1, 2, and 3, petitioner authored the date, dollar entry, and entries appearing on the backs of the checks. The witness testified further that she found "indications" that petitioner executed the questioned authorized signatures on the checks (T~535~603).

At this point in the proceedings the state rested (T-603). In Case No. 85-5364, the trial court granted petitioner's motions for judgments of acquittal as to Counts III, V, VI, and IX, and denied it as to Counts I, II, IV, VII, and VIII. The trial court denied the motions for judgment of acquittal as to the robbery charges in Case No. 85-5055 (T-605-626).

The defense did not present any evidence and rested, unsuccessfully renewing the motions for judgments of acquittal (T-631-632, 650). After argument of counsel and the trial court's instructions on the law, the jury commenced deliberations. During deliberation, the jury requested reinstruction "on the elements of robbery." The trial court did as requested, but did not grant defense counsel's request that the jury be instructed on assault (T-736-743).

After further deliberation, the jury returned verdicts finding petitioner guilty of two counts of robbery with a firearm as charged in the amended information bearing Case No. 85-5055. With respect to Case No. 85-5364, the jury also returned verdicts finding petitioner guilty of forgery as charged in Count I, uttering a forged instrument as charged in Count II, forgery as charged in Count IV, forgery as charged in Count VII, and uttering a forged instrument as charged in Count VIII (R-55-111).

In Case No. 85-5055, petitioner was adjudged guilty and sentenced to concurrent 40 year terms for two counts of robbery, with a three year mandatory minimum, and 255 days credit. In Case No. 85-5364, petitioner was adjudged guilty and sentenced to five concurrent five year terms, with 255 days credit, to be served concurrently with the sentences imposed in Case No. 85-5055. The trial court also entered orders setting forth its reasons for departing from the sentence recommended by the guidelines (R-121-139).

Notice of appeal directed to both cases was timely filed (R-142), petitioner was adjudged insolvent (R-141), and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal.

On appeal before the District Court of Appeal, First District, the following issues were raised:

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SEVERANCE OF CASES AND COUNTS, THEREBY DEPRIVING HIM OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW

AS GUARANTEED BY BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENTS OF ACQUITTAL AS TO THE ROBBERY CHARGES, DEPRIVING HIM OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW AS GUARANTEED BY BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO REINSTRUCT THE JURY ON SIMPLE ASSAULT.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING SENTENCE IN EXCESS OF THAT RECOMMENDED BY THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES.

On March 27, 1987, the District Court of Appeal, First District, entered an opinion providing, in pertinent part, as follows:

Appellant's convictions and sentences for two counts of robbery with a firearm, three counts of forgery and two counts of uttering a forged instrument are affirmed. Brown v. State, 12 F.L.W. 499 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 11, 1987) (and cases cited therein); Andre v. State, 431 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); Brown v. State, 397 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); McCloud v. State, 335 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976); and Hedges v. State, 172 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1965). We again certify the question set out in VanTassell v. State, 498 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), to the Florida Supreme Court as a question of great public importance.

AFFIRMED.

In <u>VanTassell v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), the following issue was certified:

DOES A TRIAL COURT'S STATEMENT MADE AT THE TIME OF DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, THAT IT WOULD DEPART FOR ANY

ONE OF THE REASONS GIVEN, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER BOTH VALID AND INVALID REASONS ARE FOUND ON REVIEW, SATISFY THE STANDARDS SET FORTH IN ALBRITTON V. STATE.

498 So.2d at 650.

Notice of invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed Monday, April 27, 1987.

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

[Once this Court has jurisdiction it may, at its discretion, consider any issue affecting the case. <u>Cantor v. Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986); <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982); and, <u>Negron v. State</u>, 306 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1974). Therefore, included within this brief are arguments on issues other than that certified, "affecting the case."]

Petitioner was charged with robbing two people on March 29, 1985. Three checks stolen during the robbery were forged and uttered at three separate businesses on April 6, 8, and 10, 1985. In Issue I, infra, petitioner argues it was error to have tried all of these charges together, and that there should have been four separate trials, because the various charges were not based upon the same act or transaction or upon a series of connected acts or transactions.

The robbery charges were predicated on facts suggesting that petitioner and another person, posing as police officers, requested identification from the two victims and thereby procured a wallet and purse, with which petitioner absconded. In Issue II, infra, petitioner asserts these facts do not constitute robbery.

In Issue III, infra, petitioner asserts the jury should have been reinstructed on assault in response to their desire to receive repeated instructions on the "elements" of robbery.

Assault can very well be an element of robbery but the repeated

instructions did not define assault, thus leaving an incomplete reinstruction.

Issue IV, infra, is a sentencing guidelines issue, and includes the issue certified to this Court by the District

Court of Appeal, First District. Petitioner contends the trial court improperly relied upon the defendant's prior record as a reason for departure, some of the reasons for departure were not proved beyond a reasonable doubt, arrests without convictions were considered, and the trial court partially relied upon a case that has been implicitly overruled. The case must be remanded for resentencing within the guidelines because none of the reasons for departure are valid. In the event one or more departure reasons are deemed valid, the case must nevertheless be remanded for resentencing, notwithstanding the trial court's statement that it would have imposed a departure sentence with respect to only the valid reasons for departure.

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR SEVERANCE OF CASES AND COUNTS, THEREBY DEPRIVING HIM OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW AS GUARANTEED BY BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

It was alleged that, during a robbery occurring March 29, 1985, checks belonging to Gwendolyn James were taken (R-59). On April 6, 1985, one of James' checks was used to procure a video tape recorder from McDuff Appliances. Two days later, on April 8, 1985, another of James' checks was used to obtain a television set from Duval Appliances. Two days later, on April 10, 1985, another of James' checks was used to obtain a video tape recorder from another McDuff Appliances (R-69-70).

Petitioner filed a motion seeking in effect four separate trials, one relating to the events of March 29, another relating to the events of April 6, a third relating to the events of April 8, and a fourth relating to the events of April 10, 1985 (R-45-57). This motion was denied before trial (R-58) and unsuccessfully renewed on the first day of trial (T-161).

Petitioner contends the trial court erred in denying the motion for severance of cases and counts.

The record reflects that the robbery cases were filed under one information while the remaining charges were filed under a second information. These two separate informations were ordered "consolidated" (R-34). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.151(a). The second information contains nine

charges, which charges are considered "joined." Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.150(a). The test for "joinder" and "consolidation" are the same, namely, for two or more charges to be properly joined or consolidated, they must be "...based upon the same act or transaction or on two or more connected acts or transactions. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.150(a) and 3.151(a). This test does not concern itself at all with the level of similarity between the various offenses, but rather focuses exclusively upon the episodic and temporal aspects of these several offenses. Paul v. State, 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980). See also Macklin v. State, 395 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) and McMullen v. State, 405 So.2d 479 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). If offenses cannot be joined, they cannot be consolidated; and if they cannot be consolidated, they cannot be joined. Macklin v. State, supra. If a defendant timely moves to sever offenses that had been improperly joined or consolidated, severance is mandatory. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.152(a)(1) and Macklin v. State, supra. trial court fails to grant such a motion, prejudice is conclusively presumed. Rubin v. State, 407 So.2d 961 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) and Puhl v. State, 426 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

That the robbery charges were improperly tried at the same time with the remaining offenses occurring 8, 10, and 12 days later, is illustrated by <u>Finlay v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 967 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). In <u>Finlay</u>, the court held that the burglary and theft of a car eight days prior to the defendant's commission of a traffic infraction with a stolen car, which led to an

aggravated assault with a gun used in a robbery, were unrelated to later offenses and that there was neither a causal relation—ship nor a series of connected episodes. In <u>Puhl</u>, the appel—late court held that offenses occurring only 2 1/2 hours apart were improperly joined, even though the same weapon was used, because they were not based on the same act or transaction or upon two or more connected acts or transactions.

Thus, the fact here that checks stolen in a robbery were used to unlawfully obtain goods 8, 10, and 12 days later is not relevant to a severance analysis for in both Finlay and Puhl there was a connection or relationship among the various offenses in the proof, yet they were deemed separate and unconnected and should have been severed. Brown v. State, 12 FLW 499 (Fla. 1st DCA, opinion filed February 11, 1987) relied upon by the court below, is analytically flawed for it in effect erroneously applies a "Williams Rule," type analysis to a severance issue. Again, the proper test does not concern similarity or any of the other "collateral act" tests of admissibility, but rather deals with temporal or episodic determinations. See also <u>Driscoll v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (burglary of automobile improperly tried with loitering charge based on events occurring two hours after burglary).

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