JOSEPH LEON STOWERS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

NORMA J. MUNGENAST ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

ISSUE I (RESTATED)

THIS COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SEVER INASMUCH AS THIS ISSUE IS COLLATERAL AND SEPARATE TO THE CERTIFIED QUESTION ON REVIEW.

The jurisdictional basis for this Court's review of the case <u>sub judice</u> is the certified question stated in Issue IV, <u>infra</u>, which pertains solely to Petitioner's departure sentence. Relying upon four decisions from this Court, Petitioner nevertheless raises three issues which pertain to his convictions, and are therefore separate and collateral to the certified sentencing issue. <u>See Cantor v. Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986); <u>Trushin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982); <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982); and <u>Negron v. State</u>, 306 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1974). For the following reasons, the State contends that <u>none</u> of those cases support Petitioner's request for this Court to exercise its discretion and address the first three issues.

Article V, Section (3)(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution provides that the Supreme Court:

May review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question by it to be of great public importance....

This Court has construed this provision to mean once the case has been accepted for review this Court may review any issue arising in the case that has been properly preserved and properly presented. <u>Trushin</u>, <u>supra</u>. In so concluding, however, this

- 10 -

Court in the past has not been unmindful of the need to avoid the usurpation of the district court's constitutional function as courts of <u>final jurisdiction</u>. Specifically, in <u>Trushin</u>, this Court stated:

While we have the authority to entertain issues <u>ancillary</u> to those in a certified case, <u>Bell v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981), we recognize the function of district courts as courts of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority unless those issues affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified question.

Id. at 1130 (emphasis added). Distinguishing claims that were not <u>ancillary</u> to the issue that conferred jurisdiction, i.e., the constitutionality of the vote buying statute, this Court in <u>Trushin</u> refused to address issues pertaining to the right to closing argument and the admissibility of a statement made by the defendant to a state attorney. Obviously, these latter issues were separate and collateral to this Court's review of the statute. Likewise, in the case <u>sub sudice</u>, the first three issues allege errors with Petitioner's conviction, and a resolution of those separate and collateral issues will not in any way affect the outcome of this Court's decision on the departure sentence issue.

This Court's decisions in <u>Savoie</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Cantor</u>, <u>supra</u>, are easily distinguishable. In <u>Savoie</u>, this Court accepted jurisdiction due to a conflict among district courts. During the

trial Savoie filed a motion to suppress and the trial judge denied it both on its merits and on the grounds that Savoie had waived the issue by failing to file the motion before trial. The appellate court affirmed the trial court's holding that Savoie had waived the motion, but refused to consider the merits. Although conflict jurisdiction was granted on the waiver issue, this Court exercised its discretion to consider the merits of the motion to suppress. In Cantor, this Court exercised its discretion and dealt with the constitutional validity of the statute. Clearly, the issues reviewed in Savoie and Cantor were much more intertwined with the issues that conferred jurisdiction than in the case sub judice. Whether the departure sentence below was valid has absolutely no relationship to the issue of whether a severance should have been granted, whether the reinstruction or robbery should have included an instruction on assault and whether the judgment of acquittal on the robbery charge was improperly denied. Accordingly, Savoie and Cantor should not be considered persuasive authority for Petitioner's argument that this Court should address the first three issues. See also Lee v. State, 12 F.L.W. 80, 82 n.l (Fla. January 29, 1987).

Finally, the State notes that the validity of the <u>Negron</u> case, which is cited by Petitioner, is questionable in light of this Court's subsequent decision in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). In <u>Negron</u>, a 1974 case, this Court accepted

- 12 -

jurisdiction in a case that had been disposed of by the district court with a per curiam affirmance. In <u>Jenkins</u>, this Court stated that from after April 1, 1980 the Supreme Court of Florida lacked jurisdiction to review per curiam decisions rendered without an opinion. Obviously, <u>Negron</u> is no longer valid law.

In sum, the case law cited above does not support Petitioner's request for this Court to review the first three issues raised in his brief. If this Court truely intends to refrain from usurping the district courts' authority as the courts of final jurisdiction, <u>Trushin</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1130, the State respectfully submits that this Court must avoid the routine acceptance and review of issues separate and collateral to certified questions. As a result, this Court should respect the First District's conclusion in its capacity as a court of final jurisdiction and decline to consider Petitioner's first three arguments pertaining to the alleged errors affecting his convictions. The only issue that should be addressed is Issue IV, <u>infra</u>, dealing with Petitioner's departure sentence.

In the event this Court disagrees with the State's jurisdictional argument, the State makes the following argument in support of the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's motion to sever.

Petitioner contends that the trial court committed reversible error in denying his motion to sever the information

- 13 -

charging two counts of armed robbery from the information charging three counts of forgery, three counts of uttering a check and three counts of grand theft. The armed robberies were consolidated with the nine other charges when the State's motion to consolidate was granted, expressly without objection from Petitioner's first attorney in the case, Mr. Nesbit. (T 21). Petitioner also contends the court erred in denying severance of the nine count information into three separate trials based on the two day difference between the commission of the offenses.

Granting or denying a motion for severance is normally a discretionary matter for the trial court and an order on such a motion will not be reversed except upon a showing of an abuse of discretion. Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1983); <u>State v. Vasquez</u>, 419 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 1982); <u>Crum v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1981); <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 1979). It is the State's position that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion to sever because all of the crimes were based upon two or more connected acts or transactions.

Petitioner relies on the cases of <u>Finlay v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 967 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); <u>Puhl v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and <u>Driscoll v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) to support his contention that the armed robbery charges were improperly tried at the same time with the remaining

- 14 -

offenses. In Finlay, supra, the defendant committed an armed burglary and armed robbery on the same day. Eight days later the defendant was stopped for a traffic violation which led to charges of aggravated assault and carrying a concealed firearm. On appeal, the defendant alleged error with the consolidation of the offenses. The State argued that the burglary led to the theft of the car, then to the commission of the traffic infraction which led to the aggravated assault with the gun used in the robbery. The court rejected the State's theory that the burglary led to the commission of the traffic offense, holding that they could discern neither a causal relationship nor a series of connected episodes. In Puhl, supra, the defendant was charged with kidnapping and three other offenses committed against the same victim. The victim escaped and two and one-half hours later the defendant attacked three people, robbed from them and fired shots. This latter activity resulted in eight more offenses against five other victims. The court held that a motion to sever these offenses should have been granted inasmuch as the only similarity between the offense of aggravated kidnapping of one victim and the remaining charges against the five other victims was the use of the handgun. Finally, in Driscoll, supra, the defendant allegedly burglarized an automobile and two hours later was arrested at a different location for loitering and prowling. The court held the two incidents were unrelated and improperly tried together inasmuch

- 15 -

as the <u>sole</u> connecting factor was that the arrest for the loitering and prowling resulted in the arrest for burglary.

Unlike the facts in Finlay, Puhl, and Driscoll, the facts sub judice indicate a causal relationship and a strong connection between the robbery in which Gwendolyn James' (Marshall) checks were stolen, and the forgery and uttering of those checks eight, ten and twelve days later. First, the fact that the stolen checks were the subject of the subsequent forgery and uttering charges demonstrates a connection which is distinguishable from the scenario where a vehicle or handgun is only involved in a subsequent crime. Cf. Finlay, supra; Puhl, supra. Second, in proving the forgeries, it was necessary to prove that the checks were stolen in the first place, i.e., proof of the robbery. Moreover, in proving the robbery, it was helpful in establishing identity to show through the forgery cases who was in possession of the stolen checks on a subsequent day. This is exactly how the investigators developed a case against Petitioner on the robbery charge. Tracing down the car tag number that High and Rochelle procured from the individual presenting the check at McDuff on April 6, 1985 led to the investigator's identification of Petitioner which led to his picture being included in a photospread. The first time the victim of the robbery was shown the photospread, she identified Petitioner as the man who held the shotgun at the robbery. Also, prior to Petitioner's arrest, two of the three McDuff employees identified Petitioner as the

- 16 -

one who had presented the check to them. In addition, Petitioner's handwriting was found to be present on all three of the checks, and his fingerprint was identified on at least one of the checks. All this evidence tended to prove Petitioner's involvement in the robbery. Furthermore, the robbery victim's description of the robber's car matched the McDuff employee's description of the car used when the check was presented. Α check on the tag number obtained from the April 6th incident indicated Petitioner owned a car that fit the description of the car involved in the robbery. Finally, although the first forgery, uttering and grand theft did not occur until eight days after the robbery, testimony from Michael May, a McDuff employee, indicated Petitioner had already begun to plan the April 6 offenses a week earlier when he first visited McDuff and told May his story about his paraplegic aunt. Thus, it is clear Petitioner's activities constituted one connected continuing episode from the robbery on March 29 to the first visit to McDuff a week prior to April 6, to the forgery and uttering of the stolen checks on April 6, April 8, and April 10. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in concluding this case demonstrated a strongly connected chain and a continual flow with regard to the use of the property taken in the robbery.

The case, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 499 (Fla. 1st DCA February 11, 1987), expressly relied upon by the First District in rejecting Petitioner's argument, supports the State's position

- 17 -

that the armed robberies and subsequent forgeries etc. involved a single episode such that severance was not mandated. In <u>Brown</u>, the defendant burglarized a dwelling owned by Rudolph Kinard, stealing a .22 caliber firearm, and two days later, shot and killed Kinard. In concluding that severance of the burglary and first degree murder charges were not necessary, the First District explained:

> While the temporal connection of charged criminal acts is always relevant to the question of severance, it is not conclusive in and of itself. Two criminal acts by the defendant may occur within minutes of each other and yet constitute separate episodes; on the other hand, two or more criminal acts by defendant may occur on separate days and still be part of a single episode if sufficiently connected in terms of the victim and connected or related acts. Here, the two crimes charged against the defendant meet this test because the acts surrounding the burglary on Monday were directly connected by the evidence to the murder committed sometime during the following two days. Because the killing occurred shortly after the victim telephoned appellant and discussed his presence at the victim's house on the day of the burglary, it can be inferred that the burglary led directly to commission of the murder and was the motive. These facts are sufficient to show that, even though the acts occurred over a span of two days, the two offenses charged in this case involved connected acts or transactions in an episodic sense; therefore, there was no error permitting joinder of the offenses and denial of the motion for severance. See Warren v. State, 475 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Brown v. State,

468 So.2d 325 (Fla. 2d DCA)., pet. for rev. denied, 476 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1985); Hamilton v. State, 458 So.2d 863 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

<u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u> at 500. The State notes that <u>Brown</u> is now pending in this Court on the issue of conflict jurisdiction. See <u>Brown</u> <u>v. State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 70,028. Petitioner does not contend that <u>Brown</u> does not apply in the case <u>sub judice</u>. However, he does argue on page sixteen of his brief that <u>Brown</u> "is analytically flawed for it in effect erroneously applies a 'Williams Rule' type analysis to a severance issue." The State disagrees with Petitioner's analysis of <u>Brown</u>. The two crimes in <u>Brown</u> were simply not "similar" as far as Williams Rule is concerned. However, they were connected in <u>purpose</u>, <u>time</u>, <u>sequence and geographical area</u>. For <u>that</u> reason, severance of the crimes was not mandated. The conclusion in <u>Brown</u> was correct and the First District properly relied upon <u>Brown</u> in its opinion <u>sub judice</u> in affirming the trial judge's denial of Petitioner's motion to sever.

Even if the court did err in allowing the robbery case to be tried with the forgeries, etc., the error only ammounted to harmless error. Petitioner appears to contend that an improper consolidation is <u>reversible per se</u>. See <u>Macklin v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's opinion in <u>United State v. Lane</u>, 474 U.S. ____, 106 S.Ct. ____, 88 L.Ed.2d 814 (1986), the State submits an

- 19 -

improper consolidation or misjoinder is governed by a harmless error standard. Accordingly, the cases cited by Petitioner rejecting a harmless error argument are no longer valid in light of the <u>Lane</u> decision. Furthermore, Section 924.33 of the Florida Statutes supports a harmless error standard. That statute provides that the harmless error standard is applicable to <u>all</u> judgments <u>regardless</u> of the type of error involved and explicitly states that there is no <u>presumption</u> that errors are reversible unless it can be shown they are harmful. <u>See also Taylor v.</u> <u>State</u>, 455 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Harris v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (cases applying harmless error).

Petitioner has not and cannot show that any error in trying the two informations together constituted harmless error or affected the juror's verdict. The evidence of guilt on the robbery charge was overwhelming. Gwendolyn James Marshall picked Petitioner's picture out of a photospread and identified him as one of the robbers. Thompkin's description of the robber's vehicle matched the description of Petitioner's vehicle. Finally, a wealth of evidence proved Petitioner's possession of the stolen property within a week after the robbery. Consequently, any error can only be considered harmless error.

Petitioner next contends the events of April 6, 8, and 10, 1985 should have been tried separately. Petitioner conceded below that there were similarities in the way in which all the

- 20 -

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